ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 05 2016

Appeal from Beaufort County

SC Court of Appeals

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Deceased Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTONIO COLLINS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002343

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

M. Rita Metts  
Attorney for Appellant  
Metts Law Firm, LLC  
3531 River Drive  
Columbia, SC 29201  
803-929-0577

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. The trial judge allowed the admission of improperly obtained DNA and/or blood evidence, and erred in denying the Appellant's motions to exclude the improperly obtained DNA and/or blood evidence.
2. The trial court committed reversible error when it admitted DNA and/or blood evidence, despite conflicting testimony which demonstrated improper sample collection and a tainted crime scene, which demonstrated probable tampering or altering of the samples.
3. There was no probable cause for the arrest of the appellant.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant was indicted on December 15, 2011. The Appellant was charged with Murder, Burglary in the First Degree, Kidnapping, and Possession of a Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime. A trial was held on October 21 -24, 2013. The Defendant was found guilty of all counts R. 603. The lower court sentenced the Appellant to 33 years R. 610. Numerous pre-trial and post trial motions were filed, almost all of which were denied, which will be discussed infra.

Testimony presented at trial indicates that on June 22, 2009, the victim, Ronald Coleman was the victim of a burglary and murder at his home located on Seabrook Road. The door of the victim's home was kicked open and the victim was hit by four bullets from a .40 caliber Smith and Wesson gun. The victim bled to death. Another victim, Enrekae Miles was kidnapped, but managed to escape unharmed.

Enrekae Miles is the cousin of the victim, Ronald Coleman. The victim's brother, Byron Coleman was killed in Atlanta on June 9, 2009. The victim and his brother are alleged to be drug dealers who were "jacking the boys in Atlanta" for the marijuana to bring it to South Carolina to sell.

EMS and law enforcement arrived at the crime scene. Ronald Coleman could not be revived. Law enforcement began their investigation and began to secure the crime scene. A sketch artist was brought in to assist Enreake Miles in composing a photograph of the perpetrators. There were no fingerprints of value found on any of the evidence collected from the area where the body was found.

Appellant asserts that his name was provided to law enforcement as a suspect by relatives and/or friends of the victim. At the time Appellant became a suspect in this present case, Appellant was incarcerated in a Florida jail for unrelated charges. Appellant further asserts that he provided DNA and/or blood sample evidence based on misstatements made by Florida law enforcement official who told never told him that he was a suspect in a murder case, never advised him of his Miranda rights, and told him the evidence would be used to exclude him from a sexual assault R. 614. Appellant would never have provided the DNA and/or blood evidence if he has been advised of his right to refuse or right to counsel. Once the DNA and/or blood evidence was matched to the samples collected at the crime scene, Appellant was arrested and extradited back to South Carolina to stand trial.

After a three day trial on October 21 – 24, 2013, Appellant was convicted of Murder, Burglary 1<sup>st</sup>, and Possession of a Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime, and Kidnapping. Appellant was sentenced to 33 years in prison.

This appeal followed.

## ARGUMENT

### **1. The trial judge allowed the admission of improperly obtained DNA, and erred in denying the Appellant's motions to exclude the improperly obtained DNA.**

The Appellant's arrest and conviction in this case was based almost solely on DNA and/or blood evidence collected from him during his incarceration on a Florida jail. There was insufficient probable cause to either request or obtain a search warrant that would allow law enforcement to legally collect DNA from Appellant without his consent.

Once Appellant's name was given to law enforcement by friends and family of the victim as a possible suspect, he was targeted for his DNA and/or blood in an effort to link him to this crime. South Carolina law enforcement contacted Florida law enforcement to assist with obtaining Appellant's DNA and/or blood for testing. Appellant was incarcerated in Florida on a unrelated charge. Florida law enforcement misled and manipulated Appellant during a custodial interrogation without administering Miranda warnings to obtain his DNA for the specific purpose of establishing sufficient probable cause to arrest him as a suspect in this crime. This improperly obtained evidence is the only thing linking Defendant to this crime, and the only probable cause resulting in Appellant's arrest warrant. The trial judge's denial of the defendant's motion to suppress this evidence obtained through improper means constituted reversible error.

The appellant filed a motion to exclude the DNA and/or blood evidence based on the way this evidence was improperly obtained. A hearing was held on this motion and related motions to suppress on January 25, 2012 (Motion Hearing Transcript).

2. The trial court committed reversible error when it admitted DNA and/or blood evidence, despite conflicting testimony which demonstrated improper sample collection and a tainted crime scene, which demonstrated probable tampering or altering of the samples.

Appellant further moved to suppress the DNA and/or blood evidence based on the improper procedures used by South Carolina law enforcement used to collect the DNA and/blood evidence from the tainted crime scene after numerous officers, witnesses, and ems workers walking through the area and through the crime scene, stepping in the blood and other evidence used to link Defendant to the crime.

Law enforcement spent months trying to find leads to a suspect in this case. They spoke with witnesses, most of whom were related to or well acquainted with the victim. The statements given by these witnesses were accepted as true, and there is no evidence that the witnesses were excluded as possible suspects through DNA, fingerprints or other means. There were no eye witnesses to the crime, and only the DNA linked Defendant (who resided in Florida at the time) to this crime. Despite the bloody crime scene and blood found in the vehicle suspected in the crime, there was no exclusion of other possible suspects nor was the owner (and alleged driver of this vehicle) ruled out as a suspect. There is no evidence or

testimony to place Defendant in South Carolina at the time of this crime, nor is there any evidence or testimony to determine how Defendant was able to travel back to Florida without the use of the vehicle allegedly used in the crime or any other means. Witnesses planted the seed that Defendant was a possible suspect, and law enforcement investigated the case to find evidence to support that theory. Law Enforcement did nothing to investigate the local witnesses who pointed the investigation towards Defendant.

Tire tracks, blood in the alleged vehicle used in the crime, fingerprint and DNA of witnesses were not even studied by the State. Instead, they took the witnesses at their word, despite evidence that the victim, was involved in the sell and/or consumption of illegal drugs.

### 3. There Was No Probable Cause for the Arrest of the Appellant.

Law enforcement did not have sufficient probable cause to obtain a search warrant to get Defendant's DNA through legal means.

A search warrant may issue only upon a finding of probable cause. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999). The duty of the reviewing court is to ensure the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed. State v. Adams, 291 S.C. 132, 352 S.E.2d 483 (1987). In Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 2332 (1983), the United States Supreme Court adopted a "totality-of-the-circumstances" test for probable cause determinations:

The task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the "veracity" and "basis of knowledge" of persons supplying

hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.

In South Carolina, search warrant may be issued “only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate...establishing the grounds for the warrant.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (2003); see also State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987). The affidavit must set forth particular facts and circumstances underlying the existence of probable cause to allow the magistrate to make an independent evaluation of the matter. Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S.Ct. 2674 (1978).

The lower court judge then made the determination that the DNA was properly obtained from Defendant and was properly collected, resulting in the probable cause for the arrest and admission of the DNA during the trial. The basis for the judge’s decision on this matter is based on flawed evidence obtained from a tainted crime scene. The circumstances surrounding Mr. Collins’ providing his DNA were mischaracterized and inaccurate, leading to faulty conclusions which infected this case throughout.

#### There Was No Probable Cause for the Arrest of the Appellant

The Appellant was arrested after his DNA was improperly obtained during Defendant’s interview with law enforcement wherein Defendant was not advised of his right to remain silent, not to provide his DNA and his right to counsel. Appellant’s DNA and/or blood was obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140, and Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 86 S.Ct. 1826 (1966).

Appellant consented to have his blood drawn and tested after being told by Florida law enforcement officials telling him that it would be used to exclude him from a sexual assault crime, when they were aware that South Carolina had requested and would receive

this DNA and/or blood evidence to specifically link Appellant to the murder and burglary of the victim in this case. This misleading information provided to Appellant during a custodial setting without benefit or being mirandized allowed the State to bypass meeting constitutional or statutory requirements of providing no sworn testimony, warrant, or an affidavit showing probable cause that a search of Appellant's body would produce admissible evidence.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. An order issued pursuant to § 17-13-140 that allows the government to procure evidence from a person's body constitutes a search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment. Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 767-70, 86 S.Ct. at 1834-35; State v. Register, 308 S.C. 534, 419 S.E.2d 771 (1992). The Fourth Amendment protects against intrusions into the human body for the taking of evidence absent a warrant unless there are exigent circumstances, such as the imminent destruction of evidence. Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 770, 86 S.Ct. at 1835; see also State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 462 S.E.2d 279 (1995) (applying Schmerber analysis to search of suspect's mouth). Where blood is needed only to determine blood type to match existing evidence, a warrant must be obtained even though there has been a lawful arrest. Gantt v. State, 354 S.C. 183, 580 S.E.2d 133 (2003).

A Court order issued pursuant to §17-13-140 that allows that government to procure evidence from a person's body must comply with constitutional and statutory guidelines. Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 769-70, 86 S.Ct. at 1835; In re Snyder, 308 S.C. 192, 417 S.E.2d 572, (1992); Register, 308 S.C. at 537, 419 S.E.2d at 772. In Snyder, we stated: Section 17-13-140 covers "the issuance, execution and return of search warrants for property connected with the commission of crime.." Subsection (4) provides for the issuance of a search warrant for "*property constituting evidence of crime or tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense.*" Under this court's construction, "property" as used in Section 17-13-140, encompasses nontestimonial identification evidence.

Section 17-13-140 has been construed to provide for the involuntary submission of nontestimonial identification evidence. Further, this Court holds that upon a sufficient showing of probable cause for the issuance of an order, a

court may order that such evidence be obtained from unarrested suspects within guidelines mandated under the statutory provisions, case law, and Constitutional laws of this State and of the United States. 308 S.C. at 195-96, 417 S.E.2d at 573-74; see also Register, 308 S.C. at 537-38, 419 S.E.2d at 773 (setting forth essentially the same considerations for a warrant or order compelling a bodily intrusion into a potential witness).

Appellant's case is similar to Snyder and Register because the Fourth Amendment protections apply even when an individual has been arrested and indicted. In Appellant's case, they apply even though he was under arrest for another crime in Florida. See Gantt, 354 S.C. at 187, 580 S.E.2d at 135 ("A lawful arrest does not in itself justify a warrantless search that requires bodily intrusion." "Therefore, a court order allowing the State to procure evidence from an arrested and indicted suspect must meet statutory and constitutional guidelines.")

"Under both the United States and South Carolina constitutions, search warrants may not be issued except "upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation." U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I § 10. Following these constitutional requirements, § 17-13-140 requires a sworn affidavit for a search warrant to be issued. A court order issued pursuant to § 17-13-140, which stands in place of a search warrant, should only be issued upon a finding of probable cause, which is supported by oath or affirmation. Nothing in the record suggests the court order was issued upon a finding of probable cause supported by oath or affirmation. Furthermore, exigent circumstances did not exist to justify a bodily intrusion without a warrant or order issued under § 17-13-140. Compare Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 770-71, 86 S.Ct. at 1826 (exigent circumstances existed when testing for blood alcohol level, which is considered subject to imminent destruction). We conclude the trial judge erred in refusing to suppress evidence of Appellant's blood because the order fails to

comply with constitutional and statutory requirements. See State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 69, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459 (2002) (“Evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment must be excluded from trial.”).

CONCLUSION

The Appellant has provided many grounds which warrant a reversal of the trial court’s conviction. However, Appellant would ask that the Court not lose sight of the greater picture when reviewing the various areas raised in this appeal. The most important matter in that the Appellant is innocent and the State’s case lacked any proof to the contrary. Absent the improperly obtained DNA and/or blood evidence, the case is purely circumstantial. The conviction must be reversed.