**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 23 2015

THE STATE,

SC Court of Appeals

Respondent,

v.

ANTONIO COLLINS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-002343

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND
DESIGNATION OF MATTER**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, 14th Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Id., 555 U.S. at 142. The Fourth Circuit has addressed the “good faith” exception at length:

As the Supreme Court instructed in Leon, “a court should not suppress the fruits of a search conducted under the authority of a warrant, even a ‘subsequently ‘invalidated’ warrant, unless ‘a reasonable well-trained officer would have known that the search was illegal despite the magistrate’s authorization.’” United States v. Byrum, 293 F.3d 192, 195 (4th Cir. 2002) (quoting Leon, 468 U.S. at 922, n. 23, 104 S.Ct. 3405). The Leon Court explained “that the deterrence purpose of the exclusionary rule is not achieved through the suppression of evidence obtained ‘by an officer acting with objective good faith’ within the scope of a search warrant issued by a magistrate.” United States v. Perez, 393 F.3d 457, 461 (4th

Cir. 2004)(quoting Leon, 468 U.S. at 920, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 82 L.Ed. 2d 677). “Hence, under Leon’s good faith exception, evidence obtained pursuant to a search warrant issued by a neutral magistrate does not need to be excluded if the officer’s reliance on the warrant was ‘objectively reasonable.’” Id. (quoting Leon 468 U.S. at 922, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 82 L.Ed.2d 677).

Williams, *supra* at 317.²⁴ South Carolina also recognizes a good faith exception to evidence seized pursuant to a warrant defective under S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-13-140, if the officers made a good faith attempt to comply with the affidavit requirement under S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-13-140. Sachs. See McKnight, 291 S.C. at 112-13, 352 S.E.2d at 472 (refusing to apply exception where officers failed to attempt to comply in good faith to the affidavit requirements), and State v. Covert, 382 S.C. 205, 675 S.E.2d 740 (2009), *Toal, C.J. concurring in result*. Recently, the Court again recognized a good faith exception to the search warrant requirement and the requirements of Section 17-13-140 in State v. Herring.

Recently, however, we recognized that there is a “good faith” exception to the statute’s [S.C. Code Ann. 17-13-140] requirements where the officers make a good faith attempt to comply with the statute’s affidavit procedures.” State v. Covert, 382 S.C. 205, 675 S.E.2d 740 (2009), *citing McKnight*. [fn 6] [In Covert, we left open the question of whether a good faith exception applies when “the officers reasonably believe the warrant is valid when the search is made, but is subsequently determined to be invalid.” Id. at 209, 675 S.E.2d at 743. Given our recognition of an exception for

²⁴ Leon admonished searches conducted “pursuant to a warrant will rarely require any deep inquiry into reasonableness, for a warrant issued by a magistrate normally suffices to establish that a law enforcement officer has acted in good faith in conducting the search.” 468 U.S. at 922 (internal quotation marks omitted). An officer’s reliance on a warrant would not qualify as “objectively reasonable,” however, in 4 circumstances: (1) the magistrate in issuing the warrant was misled by information in an affidavit the affiant knew was false or would have known was false except for his reckless disregard of the truth; (2) the magistrate acted as a rubber stamp for the officers and so wholly abandoned his detached and neutral judicial role; (3) a supporting affidavit is so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable; and (4) a warrant is so facially deficient, i.e., in failing to particularize the place to be searched or the things to be seized, the executing officers cannot reasonably presume it to be valid. Williams, 548 F.3d at 317; Weston; State v. Johnson, 302 S.C. 243, 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990); Adolphe; State v. Austin, 306 S.C. 9, 409 S.E.2d 811 (Ct. App. 1991).

an officer's good faith attempt to comply with the affidavit requirement, we find no reason not to extend such a good faith exception to a warrant reasonably believed to be valid, but later determined invalid. Accordingly, even if we were to determine the affidavit was improper, we would find the SLED agents acted in good faith and reasonably believed the warrant valid, Such that the search should be upheld.]

Herring, 387 S.C. at 215. Here, Beaufort police did not search Collins without a warrant or court order, but obtained what they believed to be a valid Schember order from a neutral and detached circuit judge, who independently determined probable cause existed; and, in reliance on that Order, police obtained the 2nd buccal swab. On this record, none of the 4 circumstances listed above barring the application of the "good faith" exception apply: (1) There is no evidence Judge Dennis was misled by knowingly false or recklessly false information; (2) There is no contention Judge Dennis was not neutral and detached; (3) The testimony at the Schmerber hearing was not "so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable;" (4) The Schmerber Order particularly describes the place to be searched and the items to be searched for. The good faith exception should apply and the exclusionary rule should not be enforced. There is no merit to this appellate issue and it must be dismissed.

ARGUMENT II.

The trial judge did not err in admitting the DNA evidence because the allegation of possible cross-contamination went to the weight of the evidence not its admissibility.

What Occurred Below

Prior to the beginning of the trial itself, Collins moved before Judge Kinard to suppress the D.N.A. evidence collected by police from the victim's front porch, Seabrook Rd., the .40 caliber pistol found in the grass, and the back seat of the Cadillac Deville. Collins alleged the evidence was sloppily gathered by police and there was the danger of cross-contamination or transference. Judge Kinard conducted an *in camera* hearing to determine whether this motion had any merit. (Tr. pp. 50-51). Numerous officers testified to; responding to the crime scene, preservation of the scene, collection of blood evidence, returning to the scene and collection of further blood samples, recovery and processing of the .40 caliber firearm, processing of the Cadillac Deville, and the preservation of evidence. (Tr. pp. 51-102). At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Kinard denied the motion to suppress finding Collins' arguments went to the weight of the evidence, which he could bring out before the jury and argue, but not its admissibility. Judge Kinard determined the testimony established the collection and preservation of the evidence by Beaufort police was sufficient to allow its admissibility and overruled Collins objection to this evidence on this basis. (Tr. pp. 102-105).

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 398, 649 S.E.2d 41, 46 (Ct. App. 2007) *cert. granted*; State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 525, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct. App. 2004). An appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id.; State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 101, 606 S.E.2d 503, 504 (Ct. App. 2004).

On appeal, the appellate court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 653, 623 S.E.2d 122, 127 (Ct. App. 2005). The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982); State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 230, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006) *cert. pending*.

Standard of Review/the Admission of Evidence

The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and is reversible only for an abuse of discretion. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006); State v. Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 33, 615 S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 522 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1999). Where an appellant challenges the admissibility of an expert's testimony on the grounds that it is unreliable pursuant to Rule 702 SCRE, the appellate court reviews the admission of such testimony under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Ramsey, 345 S.C. 607, 550 S.E.2d 294 (2001), *citing* Payton v. Kearse, 329 S.C. 51, 495 S.E.2d 205 (1998).

Issue Raised on Appeal

Collins argues on appeal the DNA evidence should not have been admitted because the evidence was "sloppily gathered" and preserved by the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office resulting in a great danger of cross-contamination and therefore unreliable under Rule 702 SCRE. (See Brief of Appellant) He argues, therefore, the evidence should have been excluded under Rule 702, SCRE.

Analysis

Collins' contention on appeal, that he should be given a new trial because this evidence was "sloppily gathered" and preserved by Beaufort police and therefore unreliable is without merit. First, Collins makes this assertion in his brief without any citation of legal authority on this issue and without any citation to the trial record anywhere in his brief. (See Brief of Appellant). This appellate ground must be dismissed. Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283 (Ct. App. 1993)(an issue is abandoned on appeal and, therefore, not presented for review, if it is argued in a short, conclusory statement without supporting authority). Further, there was no objection when the evidence was entered; this issue is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 552 S.E.2d 284 (2001).

Further, most of Collins' complaints under this appellate issue are regarding how the police conducted their investigation of this murder, not the integrity of the D.N.A. evidence. This appellate issue has no merit and must be dismissed.

Additionally, if Collins' contention is that the D.N.A. evidence should have been excluded under Rule 702, his argument is completely misplaced. Rule 702 SCRE deals with the admissibility of the science of DNA testing. Our Supreme Court rejected a similar contention in State v. Ramsey, 345 S.C. 607, 550 S.E.2d 294 (2001). In Ramsey, the Court first noted that like appellant here, Ramsey did not challenge the procedure of DNA testing used by the expert. Ramsey did not demonstrate the procedure used by SLED was unreliable, much less so unreliable as to warrant exclusion. Second, the Court noted the testimony concerning DNA evidence complied with the requirements set forth in State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999). The Court held: "Any evidence concerning contamination, therefore went to the weight of the testimony, not its admissibility." Ramsey. 345 at 616. The Court finally noted that

the mixture of DNA evidence is not a basis for the exclusion of the DNA testing. Id., *referencing Oregon v. Lyons*, 124 Or. App. 598, 863 P.2d 1303 (1993)(finding the potential for DNA contamination presents an “open field” for cross examination at trial, but does not indicate the PCR method of DNA testing is inappropriate for forensic use).

Under the Rule 702 analysis used by the Court in Ramsey, Collins’ has not shown that possible contamination or cross-contamination indicates *the method of DNA testing used in this case* is inappropriate for forensic use. *DNA testing* whether PCR or STR is scientifically reliable. *See Ramsey*; State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999); State v. Ford, 301 S.C. 485, 392 S.E.2d 781 (1990). Collins does not contend otherwise.²⁵ As a result, Collins’ contention on appeal is misplaced, and his appeal must be dismissed with prejudice.

Furthermore, in State v. Holmes, 361 S.C. 333, 605 S.E.2d 19 (2005), *reversed on other grounds Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S.Ct. 1727 (2006)(reversed on issue of 3rd party guilt evidence), our Supreme Court held: “[T]he fact the forensic evidence may have been compromised by the unprofessional manner in which the evidence was collected goes to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility.” State v. Holmes, 361 S.C. at 343, fn 8, *citing State v. Carter*, 344 S.C. 419, 544 S.E.2d 835, (2001); State v. Smith, 326 S.C. 39, 482 S.E.2d 777 (1997). Given Collins’ assertion on appeal, this appeal must be dismissed with prejudice. State v. Holmes.

In fact, Collins’ cannot overcome the holding of State v. Ramsey, *supra*. In Ramsey, the defendant contended the evidence admitted at trial should have been excluded because of the

²⁵Collins does not even argue the type of DNA testing used in this case was scientifically unreliable under the factors enunciated in Council and State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E.120 (1979). *See also State v. Jones*, 383 S.C. 535, 681 S.E.2d 580 (2009)(setting forth the factors enunciated in Council and Jones, *supra*). Such an argument would fail in any event. *See Maryland v. King*, *supra*.

possibility of cross-contamination of DNA evidence. Ramsey maintained blood on a boot could have been contaminated by the way police handled the evidence, while the police testified they were careful and complied with procedures. The Ramsey Court stated: “We find these issues relate to the weight of the evidence.” Id. at 615. Therefore, this appeal must be dismissed.

Furthermore, there is no testimony in this case that there was cross-contamination during the collection process, only Collins’ conjecture of the possibility of contamination or cross-contamination. Such matters are peculiarly within the province of the jury regarding the weight to be given to the evidence and are the subject of cross-examination and argument to the jury. State v. Holmes; State v. Ramsey. While Ramsey and Ford also hold that evidence may be so tainted that it is unreliable and should be excluded, there is no testimony in this case that this occurred during the gathering, collection, or preservation process.

The jury was fully aware of the collection process of the evidence in this case including that of the blood drops from the front porch, the shoe impressions in the road, the discarded .40 caliber pistol, and that in the back of the getaway vehicle. The jury was also aware of who seized the evidence, what type of containers they were in, who they were turned over to at different points in time, in what condition they were in, and how they were transported to the Sheriff’s Office and SLED. In fact, Collins’ argued the possibility of cross-contamination of this evidence to the jury in his closing argument. As the Court held in Ramsey, whether there was a possibility of contamination or cross-contamination was clearly a matter of what weight the jury would give to the evidence. Id.

Further, there is no contention the DNA buccal swabs taken from Collins person were sloppily gathered or there was a danger of cross-contamination to them or from them. Collins did not raise this issue below, and he does not raise it on appeal. There is no contention the DNA

profiles developed from his buccal samples are inaccurate. Collins' DNA profile is what it is.

It is also undisputed, that before SLED ever received Collins' buccal samples, the SLED DNA analyst found no mixture of DNA in any of the samples submitted to her from Beaufort County, i.e. the samples taken from the victim's front porch, from Seaport Rd., from the murder weapon, or from the back seat of the getaway vehicle. Before receiving Collins' buccal samples, SLED independently determined the only contributor to the samples taken from each of these locations was one (1) and the same person.

Further, it is undisputed that after SLED received Collins' buccal swabs, and developed his DNA profile from the same, it was determined by SLED that Collins' [a Miami, Florida resident's] DNA profile matched the DNA profiles previously developed from the four (4) locations at or near the crime scene [located in Beaufort County, South Carolina]. Collins has failed to prove there was cross-contamination.

For the above stated reasons, Collins has failed to show Judge Kinard abused his discretion in admitting this evidence. As a result, this appellate issue has no merit. State v. Ramsey, 345 S.C. 607, 550 S.E.2d 294 (2001), *citing* Payton v. Kearsse, 329 S.C. 51, 495 S.E.2d 205 (1998).

Harmless Error

Even assuming *arguendo* the trial judge erred in admitting some of the DNA evidence, the admission of the evidence was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Collins' guilt. "Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained." Pagan, 369 S.C. at 212, 631 S.E.2d at 267 (*citing* Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992)); State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 333, 563 S.E.2d 315, 318-19 (2002).

In making a determination regarding harmless error, this Court will look at the entire

record. State v. Miller, 367 S.C. 329, 626 S.E.2d 328 (2006). This Court will not set aside a conviction for an insubstantial error not affecting the result when guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence, such that no other rational conclusion could be reached. State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 460 S.E.2d 368 (1995). The evidence against Collins was overwhelming.²⁶ Guilt was conclusively proven, and no other rational conclusion could have been reached.

There is no contention the DNA buccal swabs taken from Collins' person were sloppily gathered or there was a danger of cross-contamination to them or from them. Collins did not raise this issue below and he does not raise it on appeal. There is no contention the DNA profiles developed from his buccal samples are inaccurate. They are his.

It is also undisputed the SLED DNA analyst found no mixture of DNA in any of the samples submitted to her for comparison from at or near the crime scene, i.e. the samples taken from the victim's front porch, from Seaport Rd., from the murder weapon, or from the back seat of the getaway vehicle. S.L.E.D. independently determined the only contributor to the samples taken from each of these locations was one (1) and the same person.

Further, it is undisputed Collins' DNA profile, developed later from his two (2) buccal samples, matched those previously developed from the four (4) locations in Beaufort County just described.

"[A]n insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where 'guilt' has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached." Pagan, 369 S.C. at 212, 631 S.E. 2d at 267 (quoting State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989)); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 381, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003). In this case, no other rational conclusion could have been reached by the jury given the

²⁶Collins did not testify. He called no alibi witnesses.

overwhelming evidence of Collins' guilt.

“There is no reversible error in the admission of evidence that is cumulative to other evidence properly admitted.” State v. Griffin, 339 S.C. 74, 77-78, 528 S.E.2d 668, 670 (2000). “Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003)(admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Braxton, 343 S.C. 629, 541 S.E.2d 833 (2001); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 334 (1978); *see also* State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996)(instructing that error in admission of evidence is harmless where it is cumulative to other evidence which was properly admitted); State v. Douglas, 367 S.C. 498, 520, 626 S.E.2d 59, 71 (Ct. App. 2006). *See also* **State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (Ct. App. 2006)(holding error in admission of some DNA evidence was harmless given other properly admitted DNA evidence and additional evidence of defendant's guilt), referencing State v. Pickens, 320 S.C. 528, 466 S.E.2d 364 (1996)(“[W]here a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed.”)**, *other citations omitted*. The admission of one (1) or even two (1) pieces of DNA evidence, even if somehow erroneous, was harmless given the other overwhelming DNA evidence of Collins' guilt. Baccus, *supra*.

ARGUMENT III.

Collins was properly indicted, tried, and convicted for these crimes based on evidence presented to the jury in his trial; it is therefore irrelevant whether there was probable cause to arrest him for this charge, because his person is not fruit of the poisonous tree; regardless, there was probable cause to arrest Collins.

Lack of Preservation of this Issue

Collins argues there was no probable cause for his arrest. This issue was not raised below, and as a result, it is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003)(for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been raised to and ruled on by trial judge); Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001); Mazzone v. Miles, 341 S.C. 203, 532 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2000)(defendant cannot raise issue for first time on appeal); Jones v. Daley, 363 S.C. 310, 609 S.E.2d 597 (Ct App. 2005)(argument not raised below or raised for the first time on appeal is not preserved); State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 611 S.E.2d 283 (Ct. App. 2005). “There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” *Jean Hoefer Toal et al.*, Appellate Practice in South Carolina 57 (2d ed. 2002). Collins has met none of these requirements. To preserve an issue for appellate review, a contemporaneous objection must be made when the evidence is offered. State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 625 S.E.2d 239 (2006). Since this issue was never raised to the trial judge, it is not preserved for appellate review. This appellate ground must be dismissed.

The Lack of Merit of this Ground

Collins argues there was no probable cause for his arrest; and, as a result, his convictions and sentences should be vacated. Collins is wrong.

Collins is essentially arguing that his prosecution and conviction is barred because his

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